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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

LUIS SARCENQ et al,
Plaintiffs, Civil Action No. 13-1271BAH)
V. Judge Beryl A. Howell

KWAN S. CHOI et al,

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The five plaintiffs in this action, Luis Sarceno, Rudy Godoy, Miguel Angel teal@@mar
Vaszuez, and Eber Estrada Flores (collectively, “the plaintiffs”Y Bl&it under the Fair Labor
Standards Act (“FLSA”)29 U.S.C. § 20&t seq. and the District o€olumbia Minimum Wage
Act (“DCMWA"), D.C. Code § 32-100%t seq.seeking “damages and other relief because
Defendants failed to pay [the plaintiffs] minimum wages and/or overtiages,” Compl. 1 1,
ECF No. 1. They allege that they worked for the defants, Kwan S. Choi, Hwan P. Eun
(“Eun”), Byung Choi, and Pyoung R. Choi (collectively, “the defendants”), performintetge
labor tasks” at the defendants’ supermarket, Best Way Supernsa&ed f{ 29, 32, 39, 46, 53,
60, regularly working more than forty hours a week, without overtimespayid.f133, 36, 40,
43, 47, 50, 54, 57, 61, 64.efzndant8yung Choi and Pyoung Chhiied aMotion to Dismiss
for failure to state a claim, ECF No. 15, and DefendamtarkChoi and Euriiled aPartial
Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF No. 17. Both motseek to aforceagreements
executed by the plaintiffs purporting to resolve the FLSA claims asserted lavisisit. See
Defs. Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi’'s Mem. Supp. Mot. Dismiss (“Defs. Byung Choi and

Pyoung Choi’'dMTD Mem.”) at 2, ECF No. 15-1 (“[T]his Court need only look to the Settlement
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Agreement signed by Plaintiffs Sarceno, Godoy, Iraheta and Vasquez to thsoblispute.”);
id. at 2-3 (“In said Settlement Agreement . . . four of the Plamtifaived any claim to any and
all wage and overtime payments from October 31, 2007 to October 20, 2011 . . . and fully
released the Defendants of any and all liabilities, including claims arisimgdr related to
alleged violations of the [FLSA] and asi€¢] the [DCMWA].”); Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s
Mem. Supp. Defs.” MotPart. Summ. J. (“Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s PMSJ Mem.”) at 2, ECF
No. 17-1 (“On October 20 and 21, 2011, the Plaintiffs and E & C Foods executed separate
Settlement Agreements and Release. resolving all claims that the Plaintiffs had for alleged
unpaid wages . . . . As such, summary judgment should be entered in favor of Mr. Choi and Mr.
Eun and against the Plaintiffs as to all of the Plaintiffs’ claims for unpaid wagfesxiktedas of
the dates of the Settlement AgreementsDgfendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Céiso seek
to dismiss the Complaint because, according to these defendants, “Bl&atdeno, Godoy and
Iraheta were paid in compliance with both the FLSA and th&i&isf Columbia Minimum
Wage Act,” and because “the Complaint fail[s] to allege with any specifigatyPlaintiffs
Flores and Vasquez worked for All Seasons Food Corp. [the defendants’ corporatioa], or t
Defendants.” Defs. Byung Choi and Pyoung GhMTD Mem.at 4-5. The defendants’
motions were denied at the motions hearing held August 6, 2014, and this Memorandum Opinion
explains in detail the bases for thaling.
. BACKGROUND

The events at issue in this matter are related to an earliéit ediin this District by the
plaintiffs’ co-workersagainst defendants Kwan Choi, Byung Choi, and Pyoung Chidiiimoz
v. E&C Foods, InG.Civil Action No. 11-141"the Munozsuit”). The circumstances of the

Munozsuitare briefly reviewedo provide context for instant dispute.



A. The Munoz Suit
Defendant8yung Choi and Pyoung Choi operated the Best Way Supermarket located at

3178 Mount Pleasant St. NW, in Washington, D.C. until 2007, when ownership shifted to
Defendants Kwan Choi and EunarRes Joint Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (“SMF”)
11 2, 8, ECF No. 18. On August 4, 2011, three of the present plaintiffgdii@rs filedthe
Munozsuitagainst three of thedefendants named in the instant sastwell as£&C Foods, Inc.,
which isthe corporation through which defendants Eun and Kwan Choi operated the
supermarket SeeCompl. (‘MunozCompl.”) at 1-2, No. 11-1416, ECF No’ IThe Munozsuit
was a proposed collective actiallegingFLSA and DCMWA claims similar to those alleged in
this instant matterCompareMunozCompl. at 2 (seeking “back pay in the form of wages and/or
overtime wages for labor and services rendered on Defendants’ behalfCompl. T 1
(“seeking damages anther relief because Defendants failed to pay [the plaintiffs] minimum
wages and/or overtime wages”). TWenozsuit wasresolved on December 7, 2011, upon
approval by this Countf two settlement decregonebetween thdunozplaintiffs and the
current defendant®yung Choi and Pyoung Choi, and the othetweerthe Munozplaintiffs
and the current defendant Kwan Choi and his com@a&¢, Foods SeeCompl. § 98 Orderat
1, No. 11-1416, ECF No. 19 (grantiR¢s. Byung Choj and Pyoung Choi’s Joint Mdor Entry
of Consent Decreg€Choi Decree”) ECF No. 18, and Pls. Kwan Choi and E&C Foods Inc.’s
Joint Mot. for Entry of Consent Decré&&C Decree”) ECF No. 17). Te present plaintiffs
were not parties to that lawsuit. ConmplL0G SMF{ 9.

Thethree employees who brought thienozsuit included_avaro Hernandezyho was

employed as a “stocker.See MunoZompl. 1 5-6.The plaintiffs in the instant action

! Kwan S. Choi is also known as “Charlie Chairid Byung Choi is also known as “Daniel B. Cheifiich arethe
name used in thelunozsuit. Although Defendant Eun was not named as a party tduhezsuit, the complaint in
that included an unnamed, John Doe defend@aeSMF 1 8;MunozCompl. at 2.
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“performed general labor task®r the defendants, Compl. 11 32, 39, 46, 53, 60, which the
plaintiffs assertmakes them “similarly situated’ to Mr. Hernandez, and had the Munoz lawsuit
continued, these Plaintiffs would likehave been able to opt-to that lawsuit,” Pls.” Omnibus

Mem. Opp’n Defs. Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi's Mot. Dismiss and Defs. Kwan Choi and
Hwan Eun’s MotPartialSumm. J. (“PIs.” Opp’n”) at 4, ECF No. 26lernandez, the “stocker”
plaintiff in the Munozsuit, was paia total of$47,131 pursuant to the consent decr&eeE&C
Decree at 4 (stating Lazakternandez was to be paid $32,607); Choi Decree at 3 (stating Lazaro
Hernandez was to be paid $14,524); Pls.” Opp’n at 4.

B. The Settlement Agreements
Shortly before the settlement decseereapproved in thélunozsuit,the plaintiffseach

executed a “Settlement Agreement and Releas@ctober 20 or 21, 2011, with “E&C Foods,
Inc., a District of Columbia Corporation, and its successors, assigns, if anis, agel
attorneys.” SMF Ex A (“Settlement Agreement and Release,” Oct. 20, 2011, signethioyifP
Sarceno (“Sarceno Agreement”)) at 1, ECF Noell&x. B (“Settlement Agreement and
Release,” Oct. 20, 2011, signed by Plaintiff Vasquez (“Vasquez Agreemant’)ECF No. 18-
2; Ex. C (“Settlement Agreement and Release,” Oct. 20, 2011, signed by Planakify G
(“Godoy Agreement”)) at 1, ECF No. IB-Ex. D (“Settlement Agreement and Release,” Oct.
21, 2011, signed by Plaintiff Flores (“Flores Agreement”)) at 1, ECF Nd; B E
(“Settlement Agreement and Release,” Oct. 20, 2011, signed by Plaattiétdr (“Iraheta
Agreement”)) at 1, ECF No. 18{bollectively, the “Settlement Agreements”Jhe Settlement
Agreements are identical except for the name of the plaintiff employee sigriagreement
and the number of houctaimed to have beemorked by, andettlementompensation paid to,

that employee See generally idDefendand Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi are not parties to the



Settlement Agreements$See idat 1 (naming E&C Foods and each plaintiff individually as only
parties to Settlment Agreements).

Each Settlement Agreemettvered the period from October 31, 2007 to the date of the
Agreementsee, e.g.Sarceno Agreement at 1, godvides that: (1) E&C Foods “did not
maintain records to demonstrate the number of hours worked by each PI&MiF] 27; (2) a
bona fide dispute exists “between the parties with respect to the total @/baurs worked and
the claims of the Plaintiffsid. { 28;and(3) “[e]ach Plaintiff was paid, in full, all amounts due
and owng pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement and ReleasH#5’ 33.

Three additional provisions in each agreensanotable for purposes of the defendants’
instant motions First, each agreement included a “ReleaSE&C” stating in pertinent part,
that

Upon final receipt by Employee of the Settlement Payment, Employeejoes

thereafter release, remise, acquit and forever discharge E&C and its respective

officers, shareholders, agents, attorneys, employees and any othes person

entities acting on its behalf, from any and all claims, causes of action, actions

damages, contracts, debts, complaints, suits, judgments, agreements or claims of

any kind or nature arising out of, or in any way related to, or any clainesl rais

that could have been raised with respect to overtime or other wages claimed by

Employee pursuant to its employment by E&C, including any claims arising from

or related to alleged violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act of 29 U.S.C. §

201, et seqand/or the District of Columbia Minimum Wage Act of D.C. Code 8

32-1001et seq. whether those claims and damages are known, unknown,

foreseen or unforeseen, or may arise in the future. It is the intent of ties par

that the releases and waivers provided fateurthis paragraph shall become

effective immediately upon receipt by Employee of the Settlement Payment, and

without further action by any party heretSarceno Agreement at2.

Underlying the pending motion for partial summary judgmerDéfendants Euand
Kwan Choiis theirasseribn thatas“shareholders” or “officersin E&C Foods, Inc.this release
barsany claims against thenseeDefs.Kwan Choi and Eun’®MSJ Mem. at 2

Second, ach Settlement Agreement contained a “Waiver of Claims” that states

pertinent part, that:



In addition to the release. . and upon receipt by Employee of the Settlement
Payment as provided for herein, Employee hereafter waives and forever
relinquishes any and all rights or claims related to unpaid wages dl&nbe

owed by E&C to Employee through the date of this Agreement, including, but not
limited to, claims arising from or related to alleged violations of the Fair Labor
Standards Act of 29 U.S.C. § 26ii.seqand/or the District of Columbia

Minimum WageAct of D.C. Code § 32-100dt seq.Sarceno Agreemesat 3.

Finally, each Settlement Agreement contained a “Confidentiality and Non Disc¢losure
provision written entirely in capital letters, barring the parties from discussing the oétimes
Settlement Agreements “to the maximum extent permitted by Bee,’e.g.Sarceno Agreement
at 3; SMF 1 32. The agreemestated in pertinent part, thathe fact of this agreement and the
payment hereunder shall, to the maximum extent permitted by law, renndichecial and shall
not be disclosed to anyone by the parties hereto, nor by their attorneys,cageptsesentatives,
from the date of execution of this agreement forwa8arceno Agreement at 3.

The parties do not dispute the following facts surrounding the execution of these
agreementg1) each of the plaintiffs “appeared at an office located at 7015 Evergreen Court
Suite 200 in Annandale, Virginiapn October 20 or 21, 201 EMF. {1 15-16; (2)this office
locationwas thdaw firm of Megan Chung, Esqwho represented the defendants at the tiche,
171 24-25 (3) each plaintiff signed a “Settlement Agreement and Release in English and
Spanish,” copies of which have been provided to the Cidufff] 17217 (4) Ms. Chung was
presentt the October 20 and 21 meetings, but the plaintiffs did not have an attorney julesent,
11 25-26; (5) the Settlement Agreements were not approved by a District [ofjr81; and (b
the Settlement Agreemenigre executed when no administrative peding was pending with

the Department of Labor or the District of Columbia’s Office of Wage amaf itl. 1 29-30.

2 Contrary to the SMF, the Spanish versions of each SettieAgreement provided to the Court aagsigned by
any of the parties, and the space for the address to which any ndatieg te the Settlement Agreements was to
be sent is blank in the Spanish version, but completed with the adflesshandiwdual plaintiff in the English
version. SeeSarceno Agreement at 5,-418; Vasquez Agreement at 5,-113; Godoy Agreement at 6, 445;

Flores Agreement at 6, 4B4; Iraheta Agreement at 5,413 (the preceding page numbers refer to the ECF page
number, nbthe document page number, since the Spanish and English versions haagedppe numbers).
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Theparties disputeertain circumstancesirrounding thelaintiffs’ execution of the
Settlement AgreementsThe plaintiffs allege that they were told by Defendant Kwan Choi to
meet at a nearby-¥1 storeso they could go to Virginia because the defendants “had money for
[them], but that [they] had to go to Virginia to get paid.” PIs.” Opp’'n Ex. 2 (Affidef/PI. Luis
Sarceno (“Sarceno Aff.”))flI7—8, ECF No. 20-2. The plaintiffs aver that they were instructed
not to tell the three employees then involved inNhumozsuit “about the meeting and about
getting paid.”Id. 8. The plaintiffs (except for Riuiff Flores, who had a similar experience
the next dayseePls.” Opp’n Ex. 6 (Affidavit of Pl. Eber Flores (“Flores Aff.”)) 1 8, ECF No.
20-6),and three cavorker cashiers were driven to Virginia in two cars, one driven bgrigkzint
Eun and one driven by Plaintiff Godoid. § 9-10. When they arrived at the aforementioned
law office in Virginia, the plaintiffs state they were ushered into a cené® room where a
woman introduced hersedDefendant Kwan Choi and Eun’s lawyer and another woman
indicated she would translate, since the plaintiffs “have a limited understandipgkain
English [and] cannot read EnglishSee id{{ 2, 11.

The plaintiffs avethatthey were given English and Spanish versiointe Settlement
Agreementdutwere neveadvised to consult an attorney “prior to signing the documedt.{
12-13. Through the translator, the plaintiffs allege that DefendaanKhoi “warned [them]
that if [they] spoke with anybody about the Settlement Agreement and &¢eMas will have
problems.” Id. { 15. The plaintiffs maintain that Defendaw&h Choiinstructedthem to tell
anyone who asked about overtime wages, such as an attiwaitégyerything was fine” and not
to tell the threedvlunozplaintiffs, whose proposecbllective action suit was still pendinghout

the SettlemenfAgreements Id. 1 16-17.



After theysigned the documente plaintiffs assert thaachplaintiff was immediately
presented witla check—Sarceno received a check for $8,508.93—aadtold he could cash
the check at the Supermarkéd. 7 18-19. The plaintiffs aver thaassalaried employees
before the Virginia meetinthey did not know they were entitled to overtinié. { 20. Eefore
signing the Settlement Agreements, the plaingffsge that they were not represented by
counsel, had nasserted a claim for unpaid wages, filed a lawsuit, or filed a complaint with the
appropriate labor authoritiesd. 1 2L-26 The other plaintiffs filed affidavits that are
substantially identical t&arceno’s.See generallyls.” Opp’'n Exs. 3, 4, 5, (Affidavits of PIs.
Godoy, IrahetaandVasquez, respectly), ECF Nos. 20-3, 20-4, Zi-Flores Aff.

The defendants assert that the plaintiffs “voluntarily signed the SettlergestAents
and they were not denied the opportunity to consult with an attorney prior to signing the
Settlement Agreements.” Detswan Choi and Eun’s Mot. Part. Summ. J. (“DePMSJ”) Ex.
1 (Affidavit of Def. Kwan S. Choi (“1st Kwan Choi Aff.”)) 1 13, ECF No. 17-2. Defendant
Kwan Choi states that he “entered into discussions” with the plaintiffs in “Octd26x11 . . .
regarding the resolution of any claims that those individuals had for unpaid overtime
compensation.”ld. 7. He denies that he tried to keep the meeting secratrbpgng for the
plaintiffs to meet him at the-11 store away from thsupernarket where they were employed,
andavers that he merely offereadl tarpool withthe plaintiffsto the lawyer’s office in Virginia
“[d]uring the course of the [settlement] discussionBgfs. Kwan Choi and Eun'®eply P§.’
Opp’n Defs.” MSJ (“Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’'s PMSJ Reply”) Ex. 1 (2d Affidavit of Def.
Kwan S. Cloi (“2d Kwan ChoiAff.”) ) § 3, ECF No. 21-1. He further states that he did not

“force, coerce or threaten” the plaintifisgardingthe Settlement Agreementkl. 4.



Defendant Kwan Choi and Eun’s former attorney, Megan Chung, filed an affidavit wit
the defendants’ replgontroverting certain aspects of the plaintiffs’ recollection of what oedurr
at the Virginia meetingMs. Chungstates thashe (1) prepared the Settlement Agreements
Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s PMSJ Reply Ex. 2 (Affidavit of Megan Chung, Esq. (“Chung
Aff.”)), 118, ECF No. 21-2; (2) discussed the thastive Munozsuit with the plaintiffs during the
meetings on October 20 and 21, 20d11Y 13, 19; (3) advised the plaintiffs that they could
consult with an attorneyd. 1114, 20 (4) advised the plaintiffs that she did not represent them
and represented their employer, E&C FoadsT | 16, 22(5) and told them that they did not
have to sign the Settlement Agreements “if [thelig] not wish to do so,id. 1 16, 22.

Defendant&wan Choi and Eun contend that the Settlement Agreements should be
enforced to bar the plaintiffs’ instant clairasd the other two defendants, Pyoung Choi and
Byung Choi,contend the plaintiffs’ claims should be dismissed as meritless
. LEGAL STANDARD

A. Converting A Motion To DismissTo A Motion For Summary Judgment
Defendant$young Choi and Byung Choi have moved, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 12(b)(6), for sinissal of the plaintiffs’ claims against the@eeDefs. Pyoung Choi

and Byung Choi'Mot. Dismiss at 1IECF No. 15. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provide
that if “matters outside the pleadings are presented to and not excluded by théneoundtion

must be treated as one for summary judgment,” and if a motion is so convertégatfab

must be given a reasonable opportunity to present all the material that isnpéctithe motion.”
FED. R.Civ. P. 12(d). Defendant$’young Choi an@8yung Choisubmitted three exhibits,
consisting primarily of copies of payroll records, in support of their mot8ae generallipefs.

Pyoung Choi and Byung ChoiMot. Dismiss Exs. 43, ECF Nos. 15-2, 15-3, 15-4. These



exhibits were noattached, referencedr otherwise included in the Complaisge generally
Compl., and thus constitute “matters outside the pleadings” for the purposes of Rule 12(d).

TheD.C. Circuit reviews a district court’s decision to convert a motion to dismiss into a
summaryudgment motion for an abuse of discreti@olbert v. Potter471 F.3d 158, 164—-65
(D.C. Cir. 2006)Flynn v. Tiede—Zoeller, Inc412 F. Supp. 2d 46, 50 (D.D.C. 2006) (“The
decision to convert a motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgmeistcommitted to
the sound discretion of the trial court.”). In using this discretion, “the revievound must
assure itself that summary judgment treatment would be fair to both pafiele-Commc’ns of
Key W., Inc. v. United State&7 F.2d 1330, 1334 (D.C. Cir. 1985).

In light of the substantial extraleading evidence submittedth and underlyinghe
motion to dismissand with the consent of tiparties seePl.’s Opp’n at 10 n.5he Court will
treatDefendant®young Choand Byung Chas motionto dismiss as a motidior summary
judgment®

B. Motion For Summary Judgment
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56 provides that summary judgment shall be difanted

the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and titadsnova

entitled to judgment as a matter of lawkED. R.Civ. P. 56(a). Summary judgment is properly
granted against a party who, “after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, . . . fails to
make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essdhaaltarty’s case,

and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at tri@lélotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S.

317, 322 (1986). The burden is on the moving party to demonstrate that there is an “absence of a

genuine issue of material fact” in disputd. at 323.

3 At the August 6, 2014 motions heariagd in their memorangd®efendants Pyoung Choi and Byung Choi's
counsekonfirmed that they had no objection to conveythe pending motion to dismiss to a motion for summary
judgment. SeeHr'g Tr. 3:10-20, Aug. 6, 2014.
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In ruling on a motion for summary judgmettie Court must draw all justifiable
inferences in favor of the nonmoving party and shall accept the nonmoving party’s exddence
true. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, In¢‘Liberty Lobby), 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). The Court is
only required to considehe materials explicitly cited by the parties, but may on its own accord
consider “other materials in the recordzED. R.Civ. P. 56(c)(3). For a factual dispute to be
“genuine,” the nonmoving party must establish more than “[tjhe mere existenceirtila ©f
evidence in support of [its] position.,iberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 252, and cannot rely on “mere
allegations” or conclusory statemergsgVeitch v. England471 F.3d 124, 134 (D.C. Cir.
2006);Greene v. Dalton164 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 199 Harding v. Gray 9 F.3d 150, 154
(D.C. Cir. 1993)accordFeD. R.Civ. P. 56(e). Rather, the nonmoving party must present
specific facts that would enable a reasonable jury to find in its f&@e, e.g.FeED. R.Civ. P.
56(c)(1);Equal Rights Ctr. v. Post Prop$33 F.3d 1136, 1141 n.3 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (noting that
at summary judgment stage, plaintéan no longer rest on such ‘mere allegations,’ but must
‘set forth’ by affidavit or other evidence ‘specific facts,’ . . . which for puggad thesummary
judgment motion will be taken to be true.” (quoti8gerra Club v. EPA292 F.3d 895, 898—

99 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (ellipsis and second alteration in originaf)})the evidence is merely
colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary juégtmmay be granted.Liberty Lobby
477 U.S. at 24%90 (citations omitted).

1. DISCUSSION

Defendand Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi moved to dismiss the plaintiffs’ claims against
themas without meritwhich motion as noted, has been converted to a motiosdformary
judgment. Similarly, Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun moved for partial summary judgment

solely based on the Settlement Agreements, which Defendants Kwan Choi andU€ulpaariine

11



instant suit against them. Finally, the plaintiffs seek, as paneoafapposition to Defendants
Kwan Choi and Eun’s motion, to have the Settlement Agreements declared unenforesalole, b
on the undisputed facts in the record. Pls.” Opp’n at 9 (“[T]he Court should, as a matter of la
hold that these ‘settlement agreartse are not valid for purposes of waiving Plaintiffs’ rights
under the FLSA.”).

At the hearing on these motions held August 6, 2014, the Court the Court held that the
presence of disputed material facts precluded the grant of both pending defense kiogons
Tr. 33:11-15, Aug. 6, 2014, and held that, based on the undisputed facts in the“tkefgrd,
Settlement Agreements are unenforcealite,at 35:6-7. These rulings are explained in more
detail below.

A. Disputed Material Facts Preclude Entry Of Summary Judgment For
Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi

Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi devote a substantial portion of their brief in
support of their motion to dismiss discussihg Settlement AgreementSeeDefs. Byung Choi
and Pyoung Choi's MTDMem. at 25. Indeed, aside from identifying the payroll records they
entered as exhibits with their motion, Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi spesia only
sentences explaining why, apart from the Settlement Agreements, thgfplalaims shouldoe
dismissed.See idat4-6. Atthe August 6, 2014 hearing, however, counsel to these two
defendants stated “frankly, from my clients’ perspective, this case eésily mabout the
Settlement Agreement . . . because the Settlement Agreement was effective aseafZlctob
2007,” which is the date on which Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi’'s ownership
interest in the supermarket ceased. Hr'g Tr. 221 indeed the Settlement Agreements, by
their terms, purport to release from and waive claims against only E&C Foodghé

corporation operated by Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun, and successors and owners of that

12



corporation, not predecessor ownesee, e.g.Sarceno Agreement at8. Thus, even if the
Settlement Agreements were enforceable, Defendants Byung Choi and Pymumgee not
parties to the Settlement Agreements and suit against them would not be barred.

In view of the unavailability of the Settlement Agreements as a bagisfieaiting the
plaintiffs’ claims against Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Chtiieandions hearing,
counsel to these two defendaalarified that rather than relying on the releases in the
Settlement Agreementtjese defendants relied on gwmittedpayroll recordgor Plaintiffs
Sarceno, Godoy, and Irahet8eeHr'g Tr. 9:14-24. According to these two defendants, these
payroll recordsonstitutel “clear evidence of the time and datkat [Plaintiffs Sarceno, Godoy,
and Irahetajvorked and that they were paid overtime when it was appropriate,” thus entitling
Defendants Byung Choi drPyoung Choi to summary judgment as to these plaintiffs’ claims.
SeeHr'g Tr. 9:16-23. Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Q@intinerassert thatdue to the
absence of any payrakcordgsfor Plaintiffs Vasquez and Flores, eplaintiffs have failed to
plead adequately the factual predicate for a FLSA cl&ee idat9:14-24. Thisargument
which ignores any counter averments from the plaintiffs, is unavailing.

The accuracy of the payroll records submittgdhese two defedants is in dispute, since
the plaintiffsdispute both the number of hodheyworkedfor the defendantduring the
specified period of employment, as well as the amount they wereapaidng that they were
paid in check and casltseeHr’'g Tr. 11:5-11; Compl. 1 35, 42, 49, 56, 63. The disputed
payroll records, for instance, purport to show that Plaintiff Sarceno worketlyeiaty hours of
regular time and two hours of overtime for every week recorded in“2@@f)efs.’ Byung Choi

and Pyoung Chts Mot. Dismiss Ex. LECF No. 15-2, anthe same remarkably consistent

* The records contain no entries for the period between February 8, 2006 ahd28la2606.SeeDefs.Byung
Choi and Pyoung Choislot. Dismiss Ex. lat 3-4.
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attendancen 2007, with Plaintiff Sarceno working forty hours of regular time and two hours of
overtime every week until the end of August, when Plaintiff Sarceno apparentlydioppgeng

the two hours of overtime he had worked for the previous eighteen m@ehsl. at 17 The
disputed payroltecords for Plainti§ Godoy and Iraheta show the same unwavering consistency,
with each plaintiff working exactly twentfyve hours during every pay period in 2007, with no
overtime SeeDefs.” Mot. Dismiss Ex. 2, ECF No. 15-2 (showing checks issued to Plaintiff
Godoy for hours worked); Ex. 3, ECF No. 15-3 (showing checks issued to Plaintifalfahet
hours worked). Contrary to the consistent number of hours and payments reflected in these
recordsthe plaintiffs assert in their affidavits that they were “paid a weeklyysdlaough [they]
regularly worked more than 40 hoyosr week.” Sarceno Aff. | 4ee alsd”ls.” Opp’n Ex. 3
(Affidavit of Pl. Rudy Godoy (“Godoy Aff.”)) T 4, ECF No. 20{"l was paid a weekly salary,
though | often worked more than 40 hours per week.”); Pls.” Opp’n Ex. 4 (Affidavit of PI.
Miguel Angel Iraheta (“Iraheta Aff.”)) 4, ECF No. 20same).The accuracy of these records
is, thus,a material fact in dispute that precludes summary judgment.

As for Plaintiffs Vasquez and Flores, the plaintiffs’ complaint stiitaboth plaintiffs
worked at Best Way Supermarket in 2007—during which year Defendants Byung Choi and
Pyoung Choi owned the business for ten of twelve morlesCompl. 11 48(a), 55(a); SMF {1
2, 8 (admitting Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung ChoiateeéBest Way Supermarket from
2005 through November 2007). Both plaintiffs allege that they were paid in cash. Compl. 1 49,
56. Considering the payroll records submitted by Defendants Byung Choi and PyoungeChoi a
actually records of paychecks issuadt records of time workedeeDefs.Byung Choi and
Pyoung Choi’'dMot. Dismiss Exs. 43, the absence of payroll records for Plaintiffs Vasquez and

Florescould support an inference corroboratthg plaintiffs’ assertion that they were not paid
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by check In any eventwhether Plaintiffs Vasquez and Flores worked for Defendants Byung
Choi and Pyoung Choi is a material fact in dispute that precludes summary judgment.

Since disputes of material fact exist as to the accuracy of Defendants Byuren@hoi
Pyaung Choi’s payroll records and whether Plaintiffs Vasquez and Flores wereyewahbly
these defendants, Defendants Byung Choi and Pyoung Choi’'s motion to dismiss, conwerted to
motion for summary judgment, is denied.

B. THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTSDO NOT BAR THE INSTANT SUIT
Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun’s Partial Motion for Summary Judgment is predicated on

a singleargument: that the instant suit is barred by the Settlement Agreensei3efs. Kwan
Choi and Eun’s PMSJ Mermat 2 (“[T]he Plaintiffs and E & Foods executed separate
Settlement Agreements and Releases . . . resolving all claims that the Plaintitfs di&ahed
unpaid wages.”). While settlements between parties are expressly conterbplagztbral Rule
of Civil Procedure 41, settlements of wage and hour disputes subject to the FLS Aeagatdlif
since the FLSA'’s “provisions are mandatory and generally are not subject toivaygaaiver,
or modification by contract or settlemeniSee Duprey v. Scotts Ad C, No. PWG-13-3496,
2014 WL 2174751, at *2 (D. Md. May 23, 2014). As this Court notechimillo v. Dandan
Inc., No. 13-671, 2014 WL 2890309, at *3 (D.D.C. June 26, 2014), the FLSA’s “protections for
employees trump any purported settlement or waiver of the employees’ rigiigsuit for
FLSA violations” unless there is a “bona fide dispute over wages or damages oikds’
contrary to the defendants’ assertisegDefs. Kwan Choi and Eun'®MSJ Mem. at 43,

typical tenets of contract law do not apply to FLSA settleme®és, e.gBeard v. D.C. Hous.

® This Court issued its ruling i@arrillo after the defendants’ motions for summary judgment and to dismiss were
fully briefed. The parties were provided an opportunity to submit supplairt®iefing,seeMinute Order, June 26,
2014, and Deferahts Kwan Choi and Eun and the plaintiffs filed supplemental briefessidg the applicability of
Carrillo to the instant matterSee generallfpefs.” Kwan Choi and Eun’s Suppl. Mem. (“Defs. Kwan Choi and
Eun’s Suppl. Mem.”), ECF No. 24; PIs.” Suppl. Mg ECF No25.
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Auth, 584 F. Supp. 2d 139, 142 (D.D.C. 2008) (holding that traditional contract principle of
accord and satisfaction does not apply to FLSA settlements). Thus, the Cooarfaisiershe
circumstancesnder which a privizly-arranged-LSA settlementeached without U.S.
Department of Labor or judicial supervision is enforceable before determinirigexiiee
Settlement Agreements at issue here shield defendants Kwan Choi and Eunyffarnthan
liability on the plaintiffs’ FLSA claims.

1 Enforceability Of Privately-Arranged FLSA Settlement Agreements

The D.C. Circuit has not opined on whether judicial approval of a privatedyrged
FLSA settlement is required before such an agreement may be enfSe&éeard584 F.
Syop. 2d at 142. Hence, any FLSA settlement that is not approved by a court “leavetdbe pa
in an uncertain position . . . [since] the private settlement may be held unenfortdable i
employer attempts to enforce the employees’ waiver of claims per the settidradater date.”
Carrillo, 2014 WL 2890309, at *5. In this matter, the defendants did not seek a court’s
imprimatur before entering into the purported settlementsthakfore assumed the risk of a
subsequent judicial finding that the Settlement Agreements were unenforcgabll.

In a seminal decisio,ynn’s Food Stores, Inc. v. United State Department of Labor
(Lynn’s Food, 679 F.2d 1350, 1353 (11th Cir. 1982), the Etet Circuit illuminated this risk
by statingunequivocally that, aside from a Department of Labor supervised settlemdrat, “[t]
only other route for compromise of FLSA claims is provided in the context of suits brought
directly by employees against themployer,” that can be “present[ed] to the district court [for]
a proposed settlement, [and] the district court may enter a stipulated judgteest@ftinizing
the settlement for fairness.” The court’s holding.ymn’s Food and the policy underlyinthat
holding, are of particular relevance to this action, espeaailye the circumstances surrounding

the purported settlementsthat case are quite similar to the circumstances in this matter.
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In Lynn’s Food an employer sought a declaratory judgnibat the private settlements it
had entered into with its employees absolved it of any future liability unddfltSA. Id. at
1351-52. Prior to the purported settlement agreements at idsyrenis Food the United States
Department of Labor had deteined that the employer “was liable to its employees for back
wages and liquidated damagesd’ at 1352. The employer subsequently convinced fourteen
employees to execute settlement agreements under which they were paid silpdéesmstithan
the Depament of Labor had determined the employees were owkdThe Eleventh Circuit
held that such settlements were not enforcedhle.

In examining the history and purpose of the FLSA Lijxen’s Foodcourt noted that
“FLSA rights cannot be abridgdxy cantract or otherwise waived because this would ‘nullify the
purposes’ of the statute and thwart the legislative policies it was desigrféettaate.” Id.
(quotingBarrentine v. ArkansaBest Freight Sys450 U.S. 728, 740 (1981)). Thus, outside of
payments supervised by the Department of Laboi, yhe’s Foodcourt held that where
settlement “agreements were not entered as a stipulated judgmenttioarbeought against
[the employer] by its employees, the agreements cannot be approved undey east law.”

Id. at 1353.

The Eleventh Circuit explained the rationale behind such a restriction asgnsuri
fundamental fairness in the proce§ee idat 1354. “Settlements may be permissible in the
context of a suit brought by employees under the FLSA for back wages bechaserirof the
action by the employees provides some assurance of an adversarial cddteXhé court
noted that when employees are represented by counsel, “the settlement ikehote teflect a
reasonable compromise of disputed issues than a mere waiver of statiisrpmagight about

by an employer’s overreachingld. It concludedhat“to approve an ‘agreement’ between an
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employer and employees outside of the adversarial context of a lawsuit brouigét by t
employees would bia clear derogation of the letter and spirit of the FLSAI’

TheLynn’s Foodcourt went on to describe thagreements” and the circumstances of
their execution in that case as “a virtual catalog of the sort of practices whidhShAenas
intended to prohibit.”ld. Among these practices were the eayelr’'s representative
“insinuafing] that the employees we not really entitled to any back wages,” and suggesting
“that only malcontents would accept back wages owed them under the FLEEAThe
employees inLynn’s Food‘had not brought suit against Lynn’s for back wages” and “seemed
unaware that the Deparémt of Labor had determined that Lynn’s owed them back wages under
the FLSA, or that they had any rights at all under the statide.n that case, there was “no
evidence that any of the employees consulted an attorney before signigetiraents,” ad
“[sJome of the employees who signed the agreement could not speak Entglisfifie Eleventh
Circuit concluded by noting that these practices were “illustrative of the mamg éhich
occur when employers are allowed to ‘bargain’ with their emplogees minimum wages and
overtime compensation, and convinces us of the necessity of a rule to prohibit such invidious
practices.”Id.

Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun attempt to distingligin’s Foodby stating that the
instant matter did not involve “circumstances where [the plaintiffs] were usahat they were
owed wages, could not speak English and the settlement agreements were ntedyaidlaot
consult an attorney before signing the agreements, and were discouraged fronh&akingeay
offered by their employer.” Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s PMSJ Reply &h&se édfendants, to
put it bluntly, are missing the point bjynn’s Food The Eleventh Circuit found settlement

agreements enteraato after a suit had been filed were potentially enforceable because such
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agreementwsvere subject to the crucible of the adversarial systgee Lynn’s Foqd79 F.2d at
1354. When a suit is argued in the “adversarial context,” and the employeespaesénted by
an attorney who can protect their rights under the statatg, settlement likely to “reflect a
reasonable compromise over issues, such as FLSA coverage or computation of bacthatage
are actually in dispute.ld. In those circumstances, the Eleventh Circuit held, a “district court
[may] approve the settlement in order to promote the policy of encouraging settlement of
litigation.” 1d.

In addition to attempting to distinguislynn’s Food Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun
rely on three cases from outside this Circuit for the proposition that juidinpamatur is not
necessary for enforcement of a private FLSA settlement and that the Bstiement
Agreements should be enforcefleeDefs.Kwan Choi and Eun’®MSJ Mem. at &10.
Specifically, the Fifth Circuit iMartin v. Spring Break '83 Production688 F.3d 247, 257 (5th
Cir. 2012), the Eastern District of New YorkRncerni v. Bilingual Seit and Preschool 1n©25
F. Supp. 2d 368, 378 (E.D.N.Y 2013), and thestérn District of Texas iNlartinez v. Bohls
Bearing EquipnentCo, 361 F. Supp. 2d 608, 631-32 (W.D. Tex. 2005), concluded that
enforcement of the private FLSA settlements at issue in those cases was psofas. Court
noted inCarrillo, the law in his Circuit remains unsettled as to whether even a judicially
approved settlement is enforceable, but such judicial approval “would be a sigridatant
militating in favor of subsequent enforcemer@€eCarrillo, 2014 WL 2890309, at *5. In
Martin andMartinez the courts carefully scrutinized the terms of the agreements at issue to
ensure that the settlements were fair and did not undermine the goals of fhe$FdeSMartin
688 F.3d at 256 n.1(holding private settlement agreements reached inathiext of a civil

lawsuit did “not implicate[] . . . the concerns that the Eleventh Circuit exprestgdrrs
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Food); Martinez 361 F. Supp. 2d at 631-32 (holding private settlement agreement that resolved
“bona fide dispute” and was not obtained undeeds was “a valid release of Plaintiff's FLSA
rights”). InPicerni, the court found that the FLSA was not exempt from Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 41 and, consequently, the court had no reason to examine a motion for voluntary
dismissal under Rule 44) for fairness.See Picerni925 F. Supp. 2d at 375.

The Court concurs with the reasoning of the Fifth CircuNartin that a private
settlement of FLSA claims may be enforceable, even if the settlement was reatioed wi
United State®epartment of Bbor or judicial supervision or approval, but only when the
agreement resolves a bona fide dispute between the parties and the terms oéthensette
fair and reasonableSeeMartin, 688 F.3d at 255, 256 n.1@Vhether a bona fide dispute exists
is a critical legal conclusion, without which enforcement of a FLSA privdtiesent is
precluded as a matter of law, since an employee may not waive his entitleméamitom
wage and overtime paysee Brooklyn Sav. Bank v. O'N&R4 U.S. 697, 704, 707 (1945)
(holding minimum wage, overtime, and entitlement to liquidated damages rights in FeSA a
non-waivable in the absent of bona fide disputg)in’s Food 679 F.2dat 1355 (holding “there
is only one context in which compromises of FLSA back wage or liquidated damagerolayms
be allowed: a stipulated judgment entered by a court which has determinedetiianzest . . .
is a fair and reasonable resolution of a bona fide dispute over FLSA provisions.’®. Sinc
material factual disputes exist as to whether a bona fide dispute existed at the i ¢neent
Agreements were executed, summary judgment for Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun is
precluded, as explained below. Moreowejle the parties dispute cematircumstances
surrounding the execution of the Settlement Agreemt#rgdacts that arendisputedestablish

as a matter of law, that the Settlement Agreements are not enforceable.
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2. Factual Disputes Over Existence Of Bona Fide Dispute

On the thresholtssue the existence of a bona fide dispute, Defendants Kwan Choi and
Eunpoint to the provision in the agreements statingdhaina fide dispute exists “between the
parties with respect to the total overtime hours worked and the claims of the Blaii®&NF
1 28. This provisionis simply not dispositive, however. HEcircumstances under which the
agreements were executed raise significant questibaut whether the plaintiffs knowingly,
intelligently, and voluntarily signed the agreements, thereby waiving their FLSA rights
particular, the parties do not disptib@tthe plaintiffswere given only short notice about the
meeting where the agreements were first presented, discussed, and sigmaintifes had no
legal representation at the meetingnd the plaintiffsieeded translatoat the meeting but
only signed the English version of the agreements, rather than the version in their nat
language of Spanish.These undisputed facts, standing alone, undercut any conclusitmethat
provision proclaiming the existencetbk requisitdoona fide disputes effectiveandresulsin a
waiver of FLSA rights.

Moreover, the parties dispute key facts necessary to make the determinatidmotizat a
fide dispute existed when the Settlement Agreements were signed. This iconciag seem
counterintuitive in light of the plaintiffs’ initiation of the instant lawsuit, but the current status o
the plaintiffs’ claims are not the measure of the exisé of a bona fide disputéthe time they
signed the agreements sought to be enforBadher, the pertinent timeframe for evaluating the

agreements is at the time the settlements were reached.

® As noted seesupranote 2, the Spanish versions of each Settlement Agreement are égdsatik with only the
English versions completed with the signatures of the parties and sekltesvhich any notices relating to the
SettlemehAgreements was to be sent.
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Although the plaintiffs’ instant claims challenging tlegality of the wages they were
paid during the same period covered by the purported agreements strongly sugoehsts tha
factual basis for a dispute was present at the time of the agreements, théspdaetithat they
were unaware of any dispute whibiey signed the agreementSeeg.g, Sarceno Aff. § 21 (“I
never told the Defendants they owed me ‘overtime’ wages, and never spoke withahdabDes
about receiving additional wages for the hours | worked over 40 hours in one wieel§.’22
(“I never asserted a claim for unpaid wages against any of the Defendants, or amaey m
demanded that the Defendants pay me ‘overtime’ wggedoy Aff. I 2122 (making
virtually identical statements to those in Sarceno A#gcording to the plaintiffs, until they
were presented with the Settlement Agreements, they believed that the@ssadaered all of
the compensation to which they were entiti&te, e.g.Godoy Aff. I 20 (“I had always been a
salaried employee amior to [October 20, 2011], | did not know that my employers owed me
additional wages for the hours | worked over 40 hours in one week.”).

No “bona fide dispute” under the FLSA can exist when one party to the dispute is
unaware of the dispute due to ignorance over his or her legal rights. Defendants KwandChoi
Eun counter that the plaintiffs were aware of the FLSA dispute because “Mrn&dviraChoi,
through [their attorney] Ms. Chung and a Spanish interpreter, explained in detaihe/dainoz
case entailed and the purpose and reasoning for the Settlement Agreements Kvizef<hoi
and Eun’s PMSJ Reply at They also assert that “[t|he Plaintiffs were not forced to execute the
Settlement Agreements . .” Id. at 8. The plaintiffs, on the other hand, deny that they were told
about theMunozsuit and attest that they were unaware of their rights under the FLSA at the time
they were presented with the Settlement Agreem8ets, e.g.Sarceno Aff. { 20; Godoy Aff. I

20; Iraheta Aff. § 20
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When, as here, a court is faced with two diametrically opposed versions of what
happened at a critical meeting, the issue of which version is correct turns atiaok
credibility that is inappropriate to resolve asummary judgmennotion See Pnnas v.

District of Columbia 719 F.3d 693, 698 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (holding that where answer to question
of fact “hinges on credibility determinations more appropriately made d&rqury’s box than a
judge’s bench,” summary judgment is inapproprig@aydo-Kronemann v. Donova601 F.3d

599, 604 (D.C. Cir. 2010) (“Credibility determinations, the weighing of evidence, and the
drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functionshogetof a judge’ at

summary judgment” (quotingnderson477 U.S. at 255)). On this ground alone, the
defendants’ motions must be denied.

Moreover, as discussed next, other circumstances surrounding the execution of the
Settlement Agreementaise concerns about the fairness and reasonableness of the process
employed to reach, and the terms reflected in, the agreements.

3. Fairness and Reasonableness of The Settlement Agreements

Even assumingrguendo thatthe defendants are correct thatomé# fide dispute
between the parties existed at the time of executing the settlement agreeamsndgration of
the totality of the circumstances surrounding the execution of the Settlegrestdents
demonstratethat, while certain circumstances arepluted andherefore preclude summary
judgment, other undisputepects of the agreements, including their terms and timing, make
clear that they are unenforceabkea matter of lawThe totality of circumstances approach
examines three primary aspects of the agreements to evaluate their fairnessandhieness:
(1) whether the employer is “overreaching” to secure a waiver of rightashether the

settlement was reached by arms’ length negotiation; and (3) whetheaititéfplwould have
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difficulty obtaining a judgmentSee Carrillg 2014 WL 2890309, at *6Each of these factors is
reviewed below.
a) Overreaching By Employer

The circumstances surrounding these Settlement Agreements raise sigodieaaTn
about “overreaching” by the employdndeed, this case bears a striking resemblance to the
troubling facts presented bynn’s Food where the Eleventh Circuit found unenforceable a
private FLSA settlement agreemei@ee679 F.2d at 1355. Among the salient similarities
between this case ahgnn’s Foodare the following three factual circumstancgkich preclude
the entry of summary judgment for Defendants Kwan Choi andEcausgat a minimumthey
are disputed by the partiefirst, inLynn’s Food “the employees seemed unaware that the
Department of Labor had determined that Lynn’s owed them back wages unBe&i#eor
that they had any rights at all under the statute.” 679 F.2d at 1354. In the instanttheatter
plaintiffs likewise aver that they “did not know that [their] em@s/owed [them] additional
wages for the hours [they] worked over 40 hours in one week.” Sarceno Aff. § 20.

Second, irLynn’s Food there was “no evidence that any of the employees consulted an
attorney before signing the agreements.” 679 F.2d at 1854is matter, it is undisputed that
the “Plaintiffs did not have an attorney present with them at the time they eelvaawvd signed
the settlement agreement and release.” SMF fA2@he motions hearing, howev&efendants
Kwan Choi and Eun declined to concede that the plaintiffs had not consulted with counsel before
the meeting where they signed the Settlement Agreemintg.Tr. 13:1-6 (stating through
counsel that Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun had no information that plaintiffs were not
represented by counsel at time agreements were sighed@over, Defendants Kwan Choi and

Eun state the plaintiffs “were instructed they did not have to sign the SettlAgreeiments and
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that they could consult an attorney or have an attorney review the ®eitlagreements,” Defs.
Kwan Choi and Eun’s PMSJ Reply at 7-8, but this assertion is disputed by the plaintiffs, who
denythatthey were informed they could seek legal courssasd, e.g.Sarceno Aff.  13.

Finally, inLynn’s Food “some of the employeeshw signed the agreement could not
speak English.” 679 F.2d at 1354. The same is indisputaig\here.Indeed, the defendants
were fully cognizant of the plaintiffs’ difficulty with English asflected by the presence of a
translator at the Virginia eetings.

Just as irLynn’s Food the circumstances under which these Settlement Agreements were
signed are “illustrative of the many harms which may occur when emplogeai@wed to
‘bargain’ with their employees over minimum wages and overtiompensation.” Drawing all
reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiffs, the material factual déspaused by these
circumstances preclude summary judgment for Defendants Kwan and Eun.

While consideration of the disputed facts surrounding theutixa of the Settlement
Agreements militates agairtsie grant of summary judgment, significantly, the undisputed terms
of the Settlement Agreements themselves demonsivategeaching by the employéry
revealing the extent iwhich the fairness of the settlement process was compromised and the
unreasonableness of the settlement tedanst, the Settlement Agreements offer very little
compensation when compared to the amount of overtime hours claimed, a hallmark oeemploy
overreaching.See Lynn’s Foqds79 F.2d at 1354 (finding settlement that paid employees
substantially less than what they were owed under the FLSA was example oyempl

overreaching). For example, the Settlement Agreement and Release sigiedthifyFarceno

" By comparison, the facts loynn’s Foodare slightly more favorable to the employer than the set of facts presented
here: the employer ibynn’s Foodrecorded the soalled negotiations with the employees so that the parties could
know what was said without resorting to the “he said, she saiditigin confronting the Court her&ee Lynn’s

Food 679 F.2d at 1354.
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states that “the lBployee claims to have worked a total of 4,541 overtime hours during the
Employment Period, and that total additional wages for overtime compensatiamiscby
Employee in the amount of $8,508.93.” Sarceno Agreement at 1. This single sentensearefl
fundamental term of the agreements that underscores the breadth of theeesplarreach

and the unfairness of the purported Settlement Agreements.

Applying simple arithmetic to this term of Plaintiff Sarceno’s Settlement Agreement, as
an exampleshows that for his “total of 4,541 overtime hours,” he received a settlement of only
$8,508.93 for the “total additional wages for overtime compensatiaeSarceno Agreement
at 1. As the plaintiffs point out, if this is correct, the plaintiff claioetly a woefully low
amount of $1.87 per hour in additional wages, even assuming that every overtime hour had
already been compensated at regular tna@ assumption the plaintiffs dispute.

Moreover, if Plaintiff Sarceno actually worked the 4,541 overtiraurs and received his
regular pay for those hours, he would have been owed approximately $3.50 an hour for each of
those overtime hours. Thus, the settlement payment only accounted for approximately 2,431
overtime hours.SeeSarceno Agreement at 1 @géring additional payment of $8,508.93, which,
when divided by $3.50 an hour, equals 2,431 hours). This would mean the Settlement
Agreement for Sarceno reflects a compromise involving the-afftef over 2,000 hours, for
which Plaintiff Sarceno ostery claimed entitlemento overtime pay.Thus, any mathematical
analysis of this key term in the Settlement Agreements undercuts a findingetBattttment
payments were fair and reasonable.

Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun attempt to deflect the import of applying simple
arithmetic to the Settlement Agreement terms by explaining that “the hours set tiwh in

Settlement Agreement have no relevance and cannot be used to determine [theesihploye
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hourly rates of pay,” because “the hours worked and ttlageed by the Plaintiffs in the
Settlement Agreements were disputed.” Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s PMSJaRdptyl.
Contrary to Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun’s assertion, however, the hours set forth in the
Settlement Agreement are certainly relevant, since an empiaysteeceive minimum wage

and overtime for every hour worked and the empl@aotwaivehis entitlement to those
wages. See Barrentined50 U.S. at 740 (“This Court’s decisions interpreting the FLSA have
frequently emphasized the nonwable nature of an individual employee’s right to a minimum
wage and to overtime pay under the [FLSA].").

In Carrillo, this Court found that a FLSA settlement paynveas fair and reasonable
wherethe compromise amount was reached after taking into account an “appropriate
investigation of the claims and defenses available to the [p]arties,” and wagant dnat fell
“slightly more toward the plaintiffs’ end of [the] spectrum of potential dameagleslations,”
after consideration of the number of uncompensated lotairsed andhedetailed explanations
of disputes over “the accuracy of the plaintiffs’ time slips,” “whether traeéheen work sites
during the work day was reasonably compensablajl’'whether the employees were “advanced”
any money from their wage$ee Carrillg 2014 WL 2890309, at *7In contrast, the only
“evidence” Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun presemastify the settlement payments in this
case iDefendant Kwan Choi’s atfavit stating the existence of “a bona fide dispute between
E&C Foods and Sarceno, Godoy, Iraheta, Vasquez and Flores regarding the dhestime
claimed to have worked and the compensation purportedly owedKwast Choi Aff. § 8.

Such a bare bonegdally conclusory statement is insufficient to establistiglieess and

reasonableness of thayments provided in tHgettlement Agreementsspecially in light of the
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detailed explanatits the Court found acceptableGarrillo.® Furthermoreby contast to the
settlement amount approved by this Cour€arrillo, the purported bargain reflected in the
Settlement Agreemenksereis so low compared to the claimed numbkovertime hours that
the settlementlearlyfavors the defendants.

Indeed, the Court need look no further than the judicially-approved settlement decrees i
the Munozsuit to ascertain just how much the purported Settlement Agreements in this case
favored the defendants.t fhe time the plaintiffs signed the Settlement Agreemanitssue here
in October, 2011, th®lunozsuit wasongoing, with approval of theettlement decreas that
case occurring ibecember, 2011SeeOrder at 1, No. 11-1416, ECF No. 19 (approving
settlement agreementsMunozsuit in December 2011). Ultiately, theMunozplaintiff,

Lavaro Hernandez, who is alledgdimilarly situated to the plaintiffs in this suas paid
$47,131.000 settle his outstanding claims for back overtime and minimum w&pe&C

Decree at 4 (stating Lazaro Hernandez waset paid $32,607.900Choi Decree at 3 (stating

Lazaro Hernandez was to be paid $14,524.00). The settlement amounts approved by this Court
in theMunozsuitare more than five times the amount Plaintiff Sarceno recesee®arceno
Agreement at 1; sevaimes the amount Plaintiff Vasquez receiveekVasquez Agreement at

1; nearly eight times the amount Plaintiff Godoy receigegGodoy Agreement at 1; nearly

three times the amount Plaintiff Flores receisbFlores Agreement at 1; and more thasefi

8 The Court is cognizant that theta@l number of overtime hours for which the plaintiffs may be owegewanay
be difficult to determine since the Settlement Agreements ‘steeE&C Foods [id] not maintairverified records
of hoursclaimed to bavorked by enployees . . ”. See, e.gSarceno Agreement at 1. Although the defendants
make vague references to “discussions” with the plaintiffs “regautie resolution of any claims that those
individuals had for unpaid overtime compensation,”"Kisain Choi Aff. { 7, the language barrier between the
plaintiffs, who speak Spanish and “have a limited understanding késenglish,” Sarceno Aff. 2, and
Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun, who “have some difficulty speaking Englightio not speak Spanish,Rdian
Choi Aff. 1 2, makeit diffic ult to discern how the parties could have the kind of complex, highly tethnic
discussion necessary over employment records, hours worked, anchogide overtime rates to arrive at the
number of overtime hours claime&eeHr'g Tr. 28:24-29:2 (plaintiffs’ counsel stated “There’s no indication how
any of those numbers, how any of those discussions ever could have tadenhbt only . .did [they] not take
place, [they] couldn’t have taken place” due to language differences.).
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times the amount Plaintiff Iraheta receivedelraheta Agreement at 1. The fact that an
allegedly similarly situated worker was paid, through a judicially approwddreent negotiated
between counsel, at least three times the amount the instiatiffslavere paid at generally the
same time, militates strongly against a finding that the instant Settlement Agreemerfearwere
and reasonable.

Another provisiorof the Settlement Agreemengdsoreflects employer overeaching
and militates against 8srcement Specifically, these Agreemententain a confidentiality
clause to bar the plaintiffs from discussing the Agreements or their tetmanyoneSee, e.g.
Sarceno Agreement at 3 (“THE FACT OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE PAYMENT
HEREUNDER SHALL, TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, REMAIN
CONFIDENTIAL AND SHALL NOT BE DISCLOSED TO ANYONE . . )'(capitalization in
original). Other courts have found that such a confidentiality clause, in andlbfréaders a
FLSA settlement unenforceable, ®nt“(1) empowers an employer to retaliate against an
employee for exercising FLSA rights, (2) effects a judicial confiseaifdhe employee’s right
to be free from retaliation for asserting FLSA rights, and (3) transfers wrtmged employee a
duty to pay his fellow employees for the FLSA wages unlawfully withheldhé&employer.”
Dees v. Hydradry, Inc706 F. Supp. 2d 1227, 1242 (M.D. Fla. 2010).

The confidentiality clause in the Settlement Agreemergges morgroblematic in
view of the onging Munozsuit at the time thanstantSettlement Agreements were signed, and
thefact that theplaintiffs here were paid substantially less than what their similarly situated co
workers in theviunozsuit would receive less than two months later. In this contextgad
requirement imposed on the plaintiffs by the confidentiality clatreagly suggests that it was

designed to prevent the plaintiffs in the instant matter from speaking kéuth@zsuit plaintiffs
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and comparing notes. Indeeletplaintiffs aver that the confidentiality clause was of particular
importance to Defendaitwan Choi, who allegedly told them “that if we spoke with anybody
about the Settlement Agreement and Release, ‘You will have problems.” Sartefid &
These restdtions on the plaintiffs’ ability to exercise fully their rights under the FLBA a
exactly what the court iDeeswas concerned with when it found such a clause, standing alone,
renders a purported FLSA settlement unenforceabée Dees’06 F. Supp. 2d at 1242.
b) Absencéf Arms’ Length Negotiations

As for the second, relatdédctor—the presence or absence of arms’ length negotiation
Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun disingenuously argue that this consideration favors the
defendants. Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s Suppl. Mem. at 8. The hallmarks of anl&argtls’
negotiation” involve parties with similar access to counsel after meaningtohveis/and the
absence of duress or coerciddeeMorgan Stanley Capital Grp. Inc. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1
554 U.S. 527, 554 (2008) (noting presence of fraud and duress precludes “faleragtihs-
negotiations”);WakMart Stores v. Visa U.S.A., In@96 F.3d 96, 116 (2d Cir. 2005) (noting
“presumption of fairness” applies when negotiation conducted by counsel after dygcove
Lliguichuzhca v. Cinema 60, LL.G48 F. Supp. 2d 362, 366 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (“[C]ourts
typically regard the adversarial nature of a litigated FLSA case to be an adewgliedtor of the
fairness of the settlement.”) (internal quotation marks amati@it omitted). The defendants
discount the undisputed fact that the plaintiffs were not represented by counsehaeting
when the Settlement Agreements were signed, noting that “the plaintiffsyatéied of their
rights to seek and retain private counsel” and “were informed that they coulti¢sRettlement

Agreements home to review prior to executio®&eDefs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s Suppl. Mem.
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at 8. According to Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun, thsans the Settlement Agreements were
“privately negotiated . . . at arniength.” Id.

Yet, Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun’s counsel states that she prepared the Settlement
Agreements herself without ever having spoken to the plaintiffs in this nege&hung Aff. 1
8, 12, 18, and the documentginselves reveal that the only changes made to the Settlement
Agreements before they were signed by the plaintiffs at the October 20 and 21, 26ihjsne
was to correct their namesgeSarceno Agreement at 1; Flores Agreement at 1, and to write in
the addresses at which notices regarding the Settlement Agreements sheritisleeSarceno
Agreement at 4; Vasquez Agreement at 4; Godoy Agreement at 4; Flores Agraefidrheta
Agreement at 4.

The plaintiffs’ lack of legal representation only compounds their unequal bangaini
positions, undermining any finding that the Settlement Agreements resulted msireargth
negotiations. The Eleventh Circuitiall v. Mal-Motels, InG.723 F.3d 1304, 1306 (11th Cir.
2013), recently highlighted the particularly vulnerable status of, and imphkodscive situation
for, employees negotiating FLSA settlements with ttiencurrent employers. Thdall court
noted that the “most cause for concern exists when the plaintiff employee i©sdtihgvfor the
defendant employer” since “the possibility of retaliation may pervade tha&iagons.” Id. at
1307. While inNall, the plaintiff “no longer worked for [the employer] when she negotiated
[her] settlement agreementgl’, the opposite is true here: to teent the plaintiffs can be said
to have “negotiated” at all during the October 20 and 21, 2011 meetings, they were still
employed by the defendants. In evaluating the voluntariness of the plainétsiteon of the
agreements, the Court cannot be blind to the potential risks they faced to their continuing

employment were they to reject their employer’s Settlement Agreements ugentptin.
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Thus, this second factorwhether the settlement was reached by arms’ length nego#ation
clearly favors the plintiffs.
C) Difficulty Of Securing A Judgment

The final factor the difficulty of securing a judgment — also favors the plaintiffs.
Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun contend this factor favors them because “thef®laoniltl
have great difficulty obtaining and collecting upon a judgment in this case,” S&€é¢-&ods is
no longer a going concern. Defs. Kwan Choi and Eun’s Suppl. Mem. at 9. The defendants have
incorrectly applied this factor to current circumstances rather than thenstamces that existed
at the time of execution of the purporteettfement Agreements. The plaintiffs, on the other
hand, argue that this factor should be examined based stathe quavhen the Agreements
were signed, noting that at that time, since the plaintiffs had not filed a lawestact about
which there is10 dispute—“there was no need for the parties to address wheth@rigmpaent
collections would be an issue.” PIs.” Suppl. Mem. at 12. The plaintiffs have the bektisr of t
argument.

In evaluating the fairness and reasonableness of the purportech8etthegreements,
whether the plaintiffs could collect on a judgment now, after a period of intagygears, is
irrelevant. Rather, the Settlement Agreements must be examined in light of the Enaesss
they existed at the time the Agreements wageesl, since, had the defendants sought judicial
imprimatur of the Agreemenex ante a court would have evaluated the facts as they were
known at the time the agreements were signed. This is the same process tresgamet! in
with respect to the ppwsed settlement @arrillo, 2014 WL 289030%t *7-8.

At the time these purported Settlement Agreements were signed, E&C Foocalgoiag

concern and, in fact, the plaintiffs were told they could cash their settlehesiiscat the store.
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SeeSarcendAff. 1 18-19. The plaintiffs could not have engaged in a fair and reasonable
evaluation of the potential pitfalls of litigation since, at the time, the plaintiffs had filed n
lawsuit and they were not accompanied by counsel when they were presented with the
agreements and signed theBeeSMF 1126, 31. This final factor favors the plaintiffs.

* * *

In sum, the undisputed facts herthat(1) the plaintiffs were still employed by
Defendants Kwan Choi and Eun when the Settlement Agreements were §jribd plaintiffs
had no counsel present at the signing ofSba#lemenAgreements(3) the plaintiffssignedthe
Settlement Agreementd the same meeting winéhe agreements were presented, after only a
limited opportunityfor review, (4) the plainffs’ understanding of English was limited,
regardless of whether translations of the documents were provided; (5) théfpleould have
joined theMunozsuit as similarly situated employees but for the Settlement Agreements; (6) the
settlement amountzaid to thanstant plaintiffs were significantly less than that paid to their
allegedly similarly situated eworker, whose settlement was negotiated by counsel and
judicially-approved (7) the SettlemeniAgreements were drafted entirely Dgfendants Kwan
Choi and Eun’s counsel with no input from the plaintiffiad (8) the Settlement Agreements
barred the instant plaintiffs from discussing the fact or terms of the agrsam#ntheir ce
workers— are sufficient to show that the employer overreached in obtaining the plaintiffs’
signatures to the Settlement Agreementsese undisputed factpupled withother undisputed
facts indicating that these Settlement Agreements were not negotiated at agthsafehthat, at
the time the Settleent Agreements were signed, there was no obstacle to the plahiiiff to
collect on a judgment obtainesince theMunozplaintiffs were able to collectompel the

conclusion that the Settlement Agreements may not be enforced.
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V. CONCLUSION

For the foegoing reasongenuine issues of material fact are present that preclude
graning Defendants Pyoung Choi and Byung Choi's Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 15, dsch
beenconverted to a motion for summary judgment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(d). In addition, the purport&kttlement Agreementsleasing the plaintiffs’ claims under
the FLSA are not enforceable and do not bar the plaintiffs’ instant ageinst Defendants
Kwan Choi and Eun. Accordinglidefendant Kwan Choi and Eun’s Motion foPartial
Summary Judgment, ECF No. 1§denied. The Order consistent with this Memorandum

Opinion was entered on August 6, 20BeeMinute Order, August 6, 2014.
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